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                   Defendants. 
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BACKGROUND 

 

Plaintiff Tammy Wilhite was employed as a registered nurse at a tribally run 

nursing home in Crow Agency.  A patient reported to Wilhite that he was being 

molested by an employee of the nursing home.  Wilhite initially reported this 

allegation to the director of the nursing home.  She was told not to report the incident 

to others, including investigative authorities.  The abused patient was threatened 

with eviction from the nursing home if he continued to report the abuse.  Other 

employees were directed not to report the abuse to investigative authorities.  When 

no steps were taken to investigate or correct the situation, Wilhite reported the 

patient abuse to the Montana Department of Public Health and Human Services 

(DPHHS) which contracts with the federal government to investigate allegations of 

patient abuse in nursing homes located in Montana.   DPHHS investigated the matter 

and confirmed the allegation of patient abuse.  On the date that the DPHHS report 

was provided to the nursing home, March 21, 2018, Wilhite was locked out of her 

employer provided apartment.  At the next board meeting of the nursing home board 

of directors, Wilhite’s employment was terminated.  Her employment was 

terminated on pretextual issues without prior notice to Wilhite. 

Wilhite then filed an action against the nursing home and the individual 

defendants.  That action was dismissed on the grounds of tribal sovereign immunity 

held by the nursing home.  It was noted that Wilhite was free to pursue claims against 
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the individual defendants.  Wilhite then filed this action.    Defendant responded by 

filing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim arguing that the 

Federal Tort Claims Act provided the exclusive remedy.  (Dkt. 4). Defendants 

subsequently filed a second Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss arguing res judicata. 

Defendants then filed a third Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss arguing that the 

Complaint fails to state a RICO claim.  The third motion was followed by an appeal 

to the Ninth Circuit of the denial of the first motion to dismiss.  Briefing on the third 

motion to dismiss was stayed while the appeal was pending.  Wilhite now responds 

to the third Rule 12 motion to dismiss.  

I. The Complaint States a RICO Claim. 

A.  The Elements of a RICOC claim are Pled. 

The starting point of any discussion of a RICO claim is the identification of 

the elements of a RICO claim.  It is well established in the Ninth Circuit that the 

elements of a civil RICO claim are as follows: (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) 

through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity (5) causing injury to plaintiff's business 

or property.  Living Designs, Inc. v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co., 431 F.3d 353, 

361 (9th Cir. 2005); Grimmett v. Brown, 75 F.3d 506, 510 (9th Cir. 1996); Hunt v. 

Zuffa, LLC, 2021 WL 4355728, at *2 (9th Cir. Sept. 24, 2021); Mendoza v. 

Amalgamated Transit Union Intl., 2022 WL 1045603, at *2 (9th Cir. Apr. 7, 2022), 
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cert. denied sub nom. Mendoza v. Amalgamated Transit, 2022 WL 16909181 (U.S. 

Nov. 14, 2022). 

Plaintiff has alleged conduct by Defendant Catolster, members of the board 

of directors of the nursing home, and employees of the nursing home . (Dkt. 1, ¶¶ 

12, 13, 17, 21, 22, 25).   

Plaintiff has shown an “enterprise.”  The enterprise includes “ both 

legitimate and illegitimate enterprises within its scope.”  U.S. v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 

576, 580 (1981).  Here the nursing home is certainly an enterprise.  Even though 

the nursing home itself may be immune to suit, it constitutes an enterprise with 

which the individual defendants  are associated in fact.  The individual defendants 

are  “a group of persons associated together for a common purpose of engaging in 

a course of conduct.  This constitutes an enterprise.  Boyle v. U.S., 556 U.S. 938, 

944 (2009), quoting Turkette, supra.   

Plaintiff must also allege a pattern of predicate acts.  Plaintiff has alleged 

that Catolster told a number of employees not to report patient abuse. (Dkt. 1, ¶ 

12.)  The abused patient was threatened with eviction. (Dkt. 1, ¶ 13.) Plaintiff was 

locked out of her apartment at the direction of Catolster. (Dkt. 1, ¶ 17.)  The board 

of directors terminated Plaintiff’s employment.  (Dkt. 1, ¶ 21; see also stipulated 

facts CV 18- 080, Dkt.24.) This constitutes a pattern.   
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The fourth element is racketeering activity.  Encouraging people not to 

report criminal activities and retaliating against those that do constitute 

racketeering activity.  18 U.S.C. § 1513(e). 

The fifth and final element is damage to Plaintiff’s business or property.  

Plaintiff lost her job and income.  She was locked out of her apartment and could 

not get access to her belongings.  This shows damage to her business and property.   

Plaintiff has alleged the elements of a RICO claim.   

B. Racketeering Requires Only Two Predicate Acts. 
 

The RICO statute defines “a pattern of racketeering activity” as  at least two 

acts of racketeering activity.  18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).  Racketeering activity includes 

retaliation against persons for reporting information to law enforcement of potential 

crimes. 18 U.S.C. 1513.  Defendants admit there were two acts, locking Plaintiff out 

of her apartment and terminating her employment.  The two acts meet the definition 

of a pattern of activity.  In addition, Plaintiff alleged threats to evict the abused 

patient and instructing others not to inform law enforcement of the abuse.   

C.  An Enterprise Must Exist Only Long Enough to Pursue the Illegal 

Purpose. 

 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff must show illegal activity lasting over a 

substantial period of time, that a few months is insufficient, citing circuit court cases 

from 1992 and 1995.  However, in 2009 the Supreme Court indicated that the 
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enterprise need only have “longevity sufficient to permit these associates to pursue 

long enough to the enterprise’s purpose.  Boyle, supra at 946.   

D. The Board Was Aware Plaintiff had been Locked Out. 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff failed to show the Board of directors was 

aware of the essential scope of the enterprise.  However, Plaintiff had filed a 

grievance with the board about being locked out of her apartment.  (Dkt. 1, ¶20.)  

The board was aware of the actions of Catolster.  Members of the board can be 

assumed to have knowledge of official governmental reports concerning  the nursing 

home they direct.   

A person can be liable under RICO even if he does not commit a predicate act 

if he knew about and agreed to facilitate the scheme.  Salinas v. U.S., 522 U.S. 52, 

63–65 (1997).  In this case members of the board of directors knew of the actions of 

Catolster and facilitated the illegal actions by terminating her employment.  

II. Multiple Rule 12 Motions are Prohibited. 

This third motion to dismiss should also be denied on procedural grounds.   

 A.  Rule 12(g) Prohibits Successive Rule 12 Motions   

   

   The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure expressly prohibit the making of serial   

Rule 12 motions.  Rule 12(g)(2), Fed.R.Civ.P., provides:   

 Limitation on Further Motions.   

 Except as provided in Rule 12(h)(2) or (3), a party that makes a 

motion under this rule must not make another motion under this rule 
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raising a defense or objection that was available to the party but omitted 

from its earlier motion. [Emphasis added.]   

   

The Rule uses the mandatory “must” rather than the discretionary “may.”  The 

failure to address an issue in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion does not generally mean that a 

defendant loses the right to raise those defenses.  Rather, the Defendant must raise 

those defenses in its answer.  The defenses that are waived, Rule 12(b)(2)-(5) 

defenses, are not ones that are raised by Defendants here.  Even if they were, the 

failure to raise a waivable defense in the first Rule 12 motion would mean that it is 

waived and would not be available in a subsequent Rule 12 motion even if such 

motions were allowed.  Rule 12(f), Fed.R.Civ.P., permits the Court to strike any 

pleading that is redundant.  The general purpose of Rule 12 is “to expedite and 

simplify the pretrial phase of federal litigation while at the same time promoting the 

just disposition of civil cases.”  C. Wright & Miller, 5B Federal Practice and 

Procedure §1342, at 23 (3d ed.).  Serial Rule 12 motions defeat the purpose of the 

Rule.    

   Rule 12(g) requires defendants to bring forward all the specified defenses in 

one Rule 12 motion.  This is required to permit timely resolution of all such defenses 

and avoid dilatory and wasteful piecemeal attacks on a complaint through successive 

motions to dismiss.  Fed.R.Civ.P., Rule 12 Advisory Committee’s note, 1966 

Amendment, subdivision (h). The underlying philosophy of Rule 12(g) is simple 

and basic: “a series of motions should not be permitted because that results in delay 
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and encourages dilatory tactics.”  2A J. Moore, Moore’s Federal Practice (2d ed. 

1987) ¶12.22 at 12-186.    

The Ninth Circuit has adopted a practical approach to the enforcement of Rule 

12(g).   It allows the district courts some discretion to consider a motion filed in 

violation of Rule 12(g).  In re Apple Iphone Antitrust Litig., 846 F.3d 313, 318 (9th 

Cir. 2017), aff'd sub nom. Apple Inc. v. Pepper, 139 S. Ct. 1514 (2019).  

In exercising that discretion, a court should weigh at least two factors: 1. Was 

the serial motion made for strategically abusive purposes or delay and, 2. Will 

consideration of the motion expedite the litigation?    Id. at 320.   

Both these factors should move the Court’s discretion to deny the repetitive 

Rule 12 motion.  The motion is made for the purpose of delay.  It is approaching 5 

years since Wilhite’s was fired for reporting patient abuse and almost 4 years since 

this action was filed.  The individual defendants also made 3 separate Rule 

12(b)(6) motions in the first action that also named the nursing home as a 

defendant.  It appears that the Defendants want to litigate their defenses in 

piecemeal fashion.  Doing so escalates the time and cost of litigation unnecessarily 

and delays the ultimate resolution of the issues.  There is nothing in the record that 

demonstrates the Defendants could not have raised all issues in one Rule 12 

motion.   

  

Case 1:19-cv-00020-SPW-TJC   Document 73   Filed 11/28/22   Page 8 of 12



9 

 

B.  Multiple Rule 12 Motions Violate Local Rule 7. 

Serial motions also allow Defendants to avoid the word limit this Court 

imposes on briefs.  L.R. 7(d)(2) limits briefs to 6500 words.   Defendant’s first Rule 

12 motion did not state a word count, as required by L.R. 7(d)(2)(E) but appears to 

contain 2242 words.  The second Rule 12 motion contains 5898 words.  The total 

number of words in the first two Rule 12 motion briefs is 8140, over 25% longer 

than permissible. L.R. 7(d)(2)(D) expressly prohibits the use of serial motions to 

avoid the word limit.   The third Rule motion contains 5406 words.  The total for all 

Rule 12 motions is now 13,546 words, over twice the word limit imposed by L.R.7.  

The second factor in determining how to exercise discretion is whether the 

motion will expedite the proceedings.  This factor is a bit circular.  If the motion is 

both well taken and will result in the dismissal of all potential claims, then it will 

indeed expedite the proceedings.  However, if the motion is not well taken, the 

motion will only delay an ultimate resolution, having cost both the Court and counsel 

to spend significant time and expense addressing the motion.  If the motion will only 

result in dismissal of some claims or result in dismissal with leave to amend, then 

the serial motion will only result in delay.    

In this case, it appears the motion is not well taken.  Judge Watters ordered 

that “Wilhite is free to properly file a new claim against the board of directors 

personally and/or potential claims against the United States under the Federal Torts 
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Claim Act.” (CV 18-080 BLG-SPW, Dkt. 45 at 5.)  Since the Court has held that 

claims can be brought against the individual members of the board of directors, the 

matter is not res judicata and the motion is not well taken  

 C.  Defendants Do Not Argue Reasons to Ignore Rule 12(g).    

When a party seeks to avoid application of a rule of court, it generally seeks 

the leave of court to do so, e.g. motions for extension of time.  In some cases, 

involving multiple Rule 12 motions, the party filing a successive motion has moved 

for leave to do so and have argued reasons that could move a court’s discretion to 

allow such a motion despite the restrictions of Rule 12(g).  See, e.g., Thompson v.  

Stanford U., 16-CV-06826-BLF, 2017 WL 2772033, at 1 (N.D. Cal. June 26, 2017).    

In this case, the Defendants did not seek leave of court to file a motion that 

violates Rule 12(g).  When briefing the motion, the Defendants do not state any 

grounds to move the Court’s discretion to allow Defendants to file serial motions to 

dismiss.  The Defendants do not state any reasons why the issue raised in the second  

Rule 12(b)(6) motion could not have been raised in the first Rule 12(b)(6) motion.    

 Without some logical reason to avoid application of Rule 12(g), this Court 

should apply the limit of one pre-answer Rule 12 motion and deny this third Rule 

12 motion.  
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III.   

 

Plaintiff believes she has adequately pled a RICO claim.  Even a motion to dismiss, 

all the well pled allegations are taken as true.  Plaintiff realizes she will have the 

burden of proof at trial.  If there is some technical defect in the Complaint in this 

action, the Court should grant leave to amend.  As the en banc Ninth Circuit has 

noted, “And in a line of cases stretching back nearly 50 years, we have held that in 

dismissing for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6), a district court should 

grant leave to amend even if no request to amend the pleading was made, unless it 

determines that the pleading could not possibly be cured by the allegation of other 

facts.” (Internal quotation omitted) Lopez v. Smith, 203 F.3d 1122, 1127 (9th Cir. 

2000).  This principle has now been the law for over 70 years.  It was reaffirmed just 

last week when the Ninth Circuit reversed a district court for its failure to grant leave 

to amend after granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  DCR Workforce, Inc. v. Coupa 

Software, Inc., 2022 WL 17101148, at *1 (9th Cir. Nov. 22, 2022) [A plaintiff should 

be given leave to amend at least once unless it is clear that no amendment could cure 

the deficiencies in the complaint.] 
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CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the third Rule 12 motion to 

dismiss.  If the Court were to grant the motion, it should also grant leave to amend 

the Complaint to cure any deficiency in the pleading. 

 Dated this 29th day of November, 2022. 

       EAKIN & BERRY, PLLC. 

       /s/ D. Michael Eakin   

     D. MICHAEL EAKIN 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 

 Pursuant to LR 7.1(d)(2)(E) I certify that the foregoing document is double spaced 

with proportional 14-point type and contains 2440 words. 

 

/s/ D. Michael Eakin   
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